

Ottawa Public Library Board Minutes

Meeting #: 2

Date: February 23, 2023

Time: 5 pm

Location: Champlain Room, 110 Laurier Avenue West, and by

electronic participation

Present: Chair Matthew Luloff, Vice-Chair Kathy Fisher, Trustee

Jessica Bradley, Trustee Mary-Rose Brown, Trustee Alison Crawford, Trustee Rawlson King, Trustee Catherine Kitts,

Trustee Harvey A. Slack, Trustee Adam Smith

1. Notices and meeting information for meeting participants and the public

Notices and meeting information are attached to the agenda and minutes, including: availability of simultaneous interpretation and accessibility accommodations; *in camera* meeting procedures; information items not subject to discussion; personal information disclaimer for correspondents and public speakers; notices regarding minutes; and remote participation details.

This draft Minutes document contains a summary of the disposition of items and actions taken at the meeting. This document does not include all of the text that will be included in the final Minutes, such as the record of written and oral submissions. Recorded votes and dissents contained in this draft Minutes document are draft until the Minutes of the meeting are confirmed by the Board. The final draft Minutes will be published with the agenda for the next regular Board meeting and, once confirmed, will replace this document.

Notes:

- 1. The meeting began at 5:06 pm.
- 2. Trustees Bradley and Brown participated electronically.
- 3. Trustee King left the meeting at 6:22 pm
- 2. Recognition of Anishinābe Algonquin Territory

Chair Luloff welcomed member and attendees to the Ottawa Public Library Board meeting and delivered the Indigenous land acknowledgement statement.

3. Roll Call

The Chair proceeded with roll call by voice in random order.

4. Regrets

There were no regrets.

5. Declarations of Interest

No Declarations of Interest were filed.

- 6. Confirmation of Minutes
 - 6.1 Minutes 1 Tuesday, 31 January 2023

Results: Carried

- 7. Communications
 - 7.1 Library Services in River Ward

Email from Linda Sabine, dated Tuesday, January 24, 2023

7.2 Kiosk Services at the Hunt Club Riverside Park Community Centre

Emails from Christine Johnson, dated Monday and Tuesday, January 23-24, 2023

7.3 Public Library Branch for Hunt Club Riverside Area

Email from Sabiha Khazal, dated Friday, February 10, 2023

8. Chair's Verbal Update

Ādisōke Update

Chair Luloff noted that one of OPL's primary strategic priorities is to create the destination experience for the Ottawa Central Library and commented that

Ādisōke is taking shape. Specifically, he highlighted the recent steel and concrete work, as well as wiring and plumbing work, to support the underground parking garage. Work on the main floor is now underway. For more details regarding this exciting project, Chair Luloff encouraged residents to visit Ādisōke.ca, as well as OPL's new webpage dedicated to the Central branch at: https://biblioottawalibrary.ca/central-branch-adisoke.

Freedom to Read Week

Chair Luloff expressed his pride in the work of the previous term of Board, when he, as Chair, along with his fellow trustees, approved a forward-thinking revised Intellectual Freedom Position Statement on Intellectual Freedom, another key strategic priority for the organization. He commented that he was excited that the Board was meeting this week, during Freedom to Read Week, which runs from February 19-25 and noted how appropriate it was to celebrate together. To highlight this important week for public libraries, OPL will have displays and activities available at branches. Clients will also see staff and trustees wearing tshirts that proclaim: "Free People Free Freely!". Chair Luloff mentioned that OPL will also be publishing a blog post with a link to a great booklist of challenged and banned books, and a list of resources to support everyone in having complex conversations about the freedom to read. In closing, he noted that the Board will receive a report at this meeting regarding challenges to items in the OPL collection in 2022, and noted that work is ongoing regarding implementation of the intellectual freedom policy package. He commented that he was very proud of the progress made to date, and the progress that will come on this file.

Upcoming key programs: Black History Month, March Break, and music workshops

The Chair highlighted several upcoming initiatives that support OPL's key value of literacy, by cultivating the joys of reading, learning, discovering, and creating. In honour of Black History Month, OPL is offering unlimited access for cardholders to the eBook version of acclaimed novel, *Washington Black*, by Esi Edugyan, until March 9.

During March Break, OPL will be offering a wide range of programs to keep kids and teens busy, including STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and Math) activities, dance, singing, arts, and culture programming, writing and games. Virtual programs for teens include programs focusing on life skills such as budgeting and planning for post-secondary education.

Lastly, Chair Luloff highlighted a partnership with Canadian Broadcast Corporation's (CBC) Music's Jam Squad to offer intergenerational music workshops in March at the Beaverbrook and Greenboro branches.

MOTION OPL 20230223/1

That the Ottawa Public Library Board receive the Chair's verbal update for information.

Results: Received

9. Chief Librarian and Chief Executive Officer's (CEO) Report

Fund Development Donor Recognition

Sonia Bebbington, Chief Librarian and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) indicated that staff, along with trustee members of the Fundraising Ad hoc Committee from last term, made progress in developing and implementing a fund development plan in the four years since the Board approved developing the strategy in 2018. She announced the first major donation from a financial institution to OPL's *Unlock Potential* campaign: the Bank of Montreal (BMO) has generously donated \$100K towards Indigenous programming. Ms. Bebbington noted she was thrilled that BMO recognized the importance of public libraries, underlined OPL's commitment to reconciliation and building genuine and sustainable partnerships with Indigenous communities in Ottawa. She observed that with this gift to OPL, BMO has invested in the vibrancy and prosperity of our city and community.

Donation from the Estonian Embassy

The Chief Librarian and CEO indicated that in support of OPL's core values of community and inclusion, OPL plays an active role in the city, building relationships that benefit Ottawa. Ms. Bebbington noted that she recently received a generous donation of beautiful books about Estonian history and folklore from Mr. Margus Rava, Ambassador of Estonia, in honour of Estonian Literature Day.

Le Mois de la Francophonie

A key relationship for OPL is its links to the Franco-Ontarian community, and OPL is proud to celebrate "Le Mois de la Francophonie," a month of celebration that culminates in the International Day of "La Francophonie," on March 20. Clients are invited to the "Croisée des Mots" virtual event on March 15 with guest author Sébastien Pierroz, as well as the inauguration of a room at the Rideau branch in honour of Daniel Poliquin on March 20. Ms. Bebbington reminded

clients to visit OPL's "We Recommend" page each week in March, to find suggested reading lists created by employees highlighting resources in French.

MOTION OPL 20230223/2

That the Ottawa Public Library Board receive the Chief Librarian and CEO's report for information.

Results: Received

10. Reports

10.1 <u>2023 Draft Operating and Capital Budget Estimates and Four-Year Capital</u> Forecast

Please refer to the 31 January 2023 OPL Board meeting for the documents.

Sonia Bebbington, Chief Librarian and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Anna Basile, Division Manager, Corporate Services presented the Board with a high-level summary of the draft budget including information regarding operating pressures and the recommended 2023 capital initiatives (Held on file with the Chief Librarian and CEO). Ms. Bebbington noted that staff are recommending a change to the proposed fee schedule to reflect replacement costs for various passes. The draft budget indicated that the replacement fee would be set at \$50.00, however, this is recommended to change to reflect the actual item cost, consistent with the Financial Framework. Ms. Bebbington updated trustees to indicate that staff received no feedback via the OPL's dedicated budget-related email address, nor via Councillor-led budget consultations. Correspondence submitted to the Board was circulated with the Agenda under Communications as follows:

- Library Services in River Ward (Email from Linda Sabine, dated Tuesday, January 24, 2023);
- Kiosk Services at the Hunt Club Riverside Park Community Centre (Emails from Christine Johnson, dated Monday and Tuesday, January 23-24, 2023); and,
- Public Library Branch for Hunt Club Riverside Area (Email from Sabine Khazal, dated Friday, February 10, 2023).

Matthew Pritz, Program Manager, Finance and Business Services and Diana Adjarska-Litzanova, City of Ottawa, Financial Services were in attendance to respond to questions.

The Board heard from the following delegations. Those marked with an asterisk (*) below denote that a written submission or presentation is held on file with the Chief Librarian and CEO.

Riley Brockington, Councillor, Ward 16 (River) represents Carlington, Central Park, Carleton Heights, Mooney's Bay, Riverside Park, and Hunt Club/Uplands. Councillor Brockington outlined to trustees that his ward is in the heart of urban Ottawa and is home to more than 50K residents. River Ward is socially and economically diverse and has the second highest number of Ottawa Community Housing (OCH) units and residents of OCH communities. He noted that the Carlington area has been identified by the City of Ottawa as one of the top three most at-risk neighbourhoods in the city, and has an active Community Design Framework committee, which OPL and the Councillor are involved in. The Councillor highlighted that River Ward is the only urban ward, and only one of two wards across the entire city, without an OPL branch. He requested that OPL significantly increase its in-person programming and services in River Ward. Specifically, he requested that \$100,000 from the OPL Reserves (less than 1% of the projected total) be allocated to offer additional programming and services in River Ward, primarily at the Alexander Community Centre and the Hunt Club Riverside Park Community Centre. Working with community partners and his office, the Councillor suggested OPL identify options for programming and implement initiatives by September 2023.

The Chair thanked the Councillor for his remarks and clarified that there are four wards that do not have a branch in the City of Ottawa.

In response to a question from Trustee Smith regarding how the Councillor sees the \$100,000 being allocated, Councillor Brockington suggested that OPL come into the community to determine what the needs and issues are and develop a plan accordingly.

Trustee Crawford asked what branches River Ward residents frequent at present. Councillor Brockington responded that ward residents commute to many branches. The four main branches that are primarily visited by River Ward residents are Alta Vista, Carlingwood, Emerald Plaza, and Greenboro; he noted that none of these have a direct bus route to his residents

Trustee Kitts asked the Councillor whether he had spoken directly to OC Transpo regarding the bus routes in his ward? Councillor Brockington said he has not spoken directly to OC Transpo.

Trustee Kitts followed up to inquire regarding the approximate distance to a branch for River Ward residents. Councillor Brockington provided some estimations, adding that a branch is within walking distance for some.

In response to a question from Trustee Slack regarding whether River Ward is in a unique situation compared to other areas in the city, Councillor Brockington said that this question could be best addressed by staff; however, he alluded to the gap analysis that is forthcoming as part of the OPL Facilities Framework.

Trustee King asked if the delegate is seeking a one-time funding allocation, also noting the gap analysis that is forthcoming later in 2023. Specifically, Trustee King asked if Councillor Brockington's request was sufficient or whether he would return to the Board with additional requests given that it will take time after the gap analysis to decide regarding future facilities. Councillor Brockington said that his current request is for the 2023 year and mentioned he may return at the next budget cycle. He also mentioned several opportunities for further OPL involvement in his ward, including the Alexander Community Centre expansion and empty retail locations in the Hunt Club area.

Vice-Chair Fisher asked if the Councillor anticipates returning to the Board to request for subsequent annual funding? Councillor Brockington reiterated that the short-term needs of River Ward can be addressed through the 2023 budget, adding that the gap analysis report will be very helpful and will inform discussion going forward. He also added that as long as these gaps continue to exist, he will continue to speak up on behalf of his residents.

Chair Luloff thanked the Councillor for his presentation.

Alayne McGregor* a long-time client of the library and a former trustee prior to and shortly after amalgamation, commented that OPL is one of the most beloved services in the city. She highlighted her concerns and questions regarding the draft 2023 budget, specifically: the \$59K decrease in the Materials budget for the purchase of collections, and the importance of resuming pre-pandemic hours of operation.

Chair Luloff asked staff to respond to the concerns raised by the delegate.

Ms. Bebbington thanked Ms. McGregor and the previous delegate for their obvious care and concern for library services. She mentioned that financially, the OPL is ready to return to pre-pandemic operating hours, however, there are still staffing shortages as there are in many sectors

across Canada. She reiterated that once staffing shortages are improved, hours of operation will return to pre-pandemic levels, and future expansion will be considered prior to subsequent budgets.

With respect to the \$59K decrease in the Materials budget, specifically the Materials and Services expenditures line on page 5 of Document 2, Ms. Basile explained that this category encompasses a variety of different items, including purchases for the collection. She noted that the \$59K amount noted is a reversal of one-time funding that was available in the past for other expenditures. Ms. Basile confirmed that this accounting calculation does not impact the collections budget.

John D. Reid, resident of River Ward, asked the Board to approve the short-term measure proposed earlier by Councillor Brockington to fill a gap that will provide equitable services in the ward. He provided background regarding legacy gaps he felt existed in his area. Mr. Reid mentioned a motion that was carried by the Board of the former OPL in 1994 directing staff to enter into a discussion and agreement with the City of Ottawa for a location for a library branch on the Hunt Club Community Centre property, noting that this initiative did not proceed. Noting that the kiosk technology is obsolete and Bookmobile service is a fraction of the service a branch provides, he felt that it was not fair to allocate funds in the budget to support superior service at existing branches, and to develop new suburban branches which in his opinion would contribute to future greenhouse gas emissions, while the legacy gaps remain, and the Library continues to run a surplus. Mr. Reid felt that a modest local branch in River Ward is possible, as there is space available for lease in the area. He suggested that resources could also be made available by reducing some existing branch services during the most underused periods of the week. Mr. Reid indicated that the original allocation for community development funding (now \$50K) was at the request of former Trustee Brockington, but the funds were expended city-wide, and no funding was used for Hunt Club in 2022. In closing, Mr. Reid indicated that he believed the \$100K requested by Councillor Brockington was the fair share for the underserved River Ward.

Seeing no questions for the third delegation, the Chair then opened the floor to questions from trustees regarding the draft budget.

Trustee Crawford commented that she looked forward to the upcoming gap analysis to assist communities such as those in River Ward. She asked how the Library can continue to provide services considering the grant from the provincial government, for example, had not been increased in many years. As a follow-up, she inquired regarding what advocacy regarding this grant had been done with the provincial government. Ms. Bebbington stated that the Public Library Operating Grant (PLOG) amount has been static for quite some time. She mentioned that the Federation of Ontario Public Libraries (FOPL) is engaged in advocacy on this matter on behalf of its members, including OPL. She further indicated that OPL has made budget delegations to the province in the past, and requested to delegate this year, however OPL was not selected. Ms. Basile added that OPL has been fortunate to receive capital funds from the provincial government, (that is, for the future Barrhaven branch).

Trustee Bradley asked staff to clarify the change to the proposed fee schedule and whether there is an impact on revenue as a result. Ms. Basile clarified that the draft budget indicated that the replacement fee would be set at \$50; however, the recommended change will reflect the actual item costs of the various passes and is consistent with the Financial Framework.

In response to a further question from Trustee Bradley regarding a complete list of passes and replacement costs, Ms. Basile indicated that a complete list will be made available to the public on the OPL website and provided examples.

In terms of the Financial Framework, Trustee Bradley asked whether there would be a revenue increase as a result, and how many clients would pay this replacement cost. Ms. Basile said staff will follow up on this inquiry and return to trustees with the information.

Trustee Bradley asked staff to clarify further with respect to the comment from a delegate that OPL has not returned to pre-pandemic hours and advise the Board regarding recruitment efforts. Ms. Basile indicated that OPL recruitment is improving compared to earlier trends at the height of the pandemic, and that the organization has gone from approximately 85 vacancies to approximately 60 currently (noting an average vacancy amount would be approximately 40 at any given time given the nature of the workforce). She indicated that the biggest challenge has been vacancies in supervisory and leadership positions, which take greater time to onboard staff into, and have a greater impact on the organization when vacant, compared to an entry-level position. Ms. Basile said OPL is perceived to be a desirable employer with well-paid employees. She noted

that additional challenges include recruiting bilingual staff, but that the organization has made some significant strides in hiring in recent months. In closing, she indicated that staff expect vacancy numbers to continue to decrease in the coming months.

Vice-Chair Fisher inquired regarding the technology capital investment at the Metcalfe village branch, specifically regarding the purpose of the pilot to increase community access to the branch after hours. She wondered whether other innovations could be considered for other branches? Ms. Basile provided some context for the new trustees regarding the Metcalfe village facility, specifically noting that the Metcalfe village branch is structurally unsound and has been vacated by OPL, the branch is temporarily located in the Old Township Hall for the next five years, of which staff are most appreciative to the community for sharing this space with us. She indicated that providing after-hours access allowed OPL to be good community partners since the branch space is open 23 hours a week. Ms. Basile said OPL wanted to provide an opportunity for the community to access the space for their purposes while ensuring that the facility remains safe and secure. Ms. Basile added that funds for this initiative that are not used will be allocated to the Capital Works Project, close-out process that is brought to the Board every year.

Trustee King acknowledged the important delegations from the community and Councillor Brockington regarding the Community Development Base Funding. Noting that the draft budget had already been developed and that it would be late to talk about the Councillor's request, he inquired whether staff would be willing to take as direction the requirement to engage in a conversation with the community about the potential for community development investment in River Ward. Ms. Bebbington reminded the Board that the initial \$40K community development allocation in 2022 was assigned system-wide not in a ward-specific manner, and the same was true for the base operating budget amount of \$50K, as included in the draft 2023 budget. The 2023 draft budget further provides for full-time staff positions dedicated to community development, increasing that staff complement. Ms. Bebbington underscored that staff are by far the most valuable resource that OPL can dedicate to the function of community development. She said part of the expectation of the expanded community development function is precisely to have the kinds of conversations that Trustee King and Councillor Brockington referred to.

Ms. Bebbington highlighted for the Board that many such conversations are already occurring in River Ward, and that the outcomes have been OPL storytimes, as referenced by an earlier delegation this evening, and visits to playgroups. OPL has also partnered with Ottawa Community Housing on workshops for teens in transitional housing and engaged in digital inclusion initiatives. While some work was interrupted due to the pandemic and staffing challenges, community development activities will pick up again. She pointed out that 37% of outreach and community development activities undertaken by staff from Alta Vista, Emerald Plaza, and Greenboro branches were provided to River Ward residents and groups. She appreciated the passion of residents and their desire for increased service, and stated that some of this work is already occurring. Ms. Bebbington closed by stating that the proposed budget provides what she believes to be the most valuable resource: the dedicated staff positions to and guide support this work.

Trustee King thanked the Chief Librarian and CEO for those investments as he had made inquiries in the previous term regarding equitable services for vulnerable communities and he does want to see this work increase. He urged staff to ensure continued communication with the Councillor and his community, and to increase investments in community development for vulnerable residents.

In response to a question from Chair Luloff regarding the process to allocate one-time funding from reserves, Ms. Bebbington reiterated that she believed dedicated employees were the most valuable investment, and noting the Board's commitment, to ensure any investment is sustainable. In terms of the mechanics, Ms. Basile said staff have never had a request during the budget process to allocate funds from the Reserves. Staff would need to assess the request from a financial and governance perspective, as typically the use of reserves is discussed as part of the review of the fourth quarter financials annually. She noted that the current size of the reserve fund is largely due to the pandemic-related staffing shortages.

Ms. Basile said that at this juncture, pulling from the reserves would require staff to adjust the report and would require some discussion with Finance and the City Clerk's Office to determine the appropriate governance process.

Trustee Slack asked if perhaps the request was indeed too late for this budget cycle. Ms. Bebbington noted that since the additional staff

positions were not yet approved, there are not yet incumbents in these roles to guide and support additional community development work. She was hopeful that these positions would be staffed in the summer of 2023, and that these employees would develop strategies and consistency around community development work. Without this structure in place, Ms. Bebbington recommended no change to this budget, reiterating that the request for staff in this draft budget set a foundation for future growth and success in community development work.

The Board paused the meeting for several minutes as Trustee Brown had questions but was experiencing audio issues.

When the meeting resumed, Ms. Bebbington responded to a question from Trustee Brown regarding whether \$50K is sufficient for the Community Development portfolio by noting the core tasks can be completed with staffing resources.

Trustee Brown inquired whether the Board will be receiving regular updates regarding community development, and Ms. Bebbington suggested regular updates to the Board starting in 2024, once the team was operational.

In closing, Chair Luloff thanked the Chief Librarian and CEO, Senior Management, and all staff for their tremendous work on the budget. He commented how proud he is of the work that OPL does in promoting literacy, removing barriers, providing inspiration, and defending the right to read and access information.

There being no further discussion, the OPL 2023 Draft Budget was CARRIED as presented.

MOTION OPL 20230223/3

That the Ottawa Public Library Board:

- 1. Approve the 2023 Draft Budget for the Ottawa Public Library; and,
- 2. Direct staff to forward the report to Ottawa City Council, for consideration on March 1, 2023 as part of the City Council's approval of the City of Ottawa 2023 Draft Operating and Capital budget.

Results: Carried

Note: The change to revising the fee in the user fees chart for Museum and Ski passes does not impact any financials or rudimentary part of the budget. Document 1 – OPL 2023 Draft Operating and Capital Budget Estimates and Four-Year Capital Forecast and Document 2 – OPL 2024 Draft Operating and Capital Budget Book were revised to reflect this proposed fee schedule change.

10.2 Ottawa Public Library Board Ad hoc Committees

File Number: OPLB-2023-0223-10.2

Report Recommendation:

That the Ottawa Public Library Board approve the creation of seven Ad hoc Committees, as composed and identified in this report.

MOTION OPL 2023223/4

That the Ottawa Public Library Board approve the creation of seven Ad hoc Committees, as composed and identified in this report.

Results: Carried

10.3 <u>2023 Board Continuing Education Plan and Conference Attendance</u>

File Number: OPLB-2023-0223-10.3

The Board heard from the following delegation, marked with an asterisk (*) to denote that a written submission or presentation is held on file with the Chief Librarian and CEO.

Danielle Mailhot*, a retired teacher with 30 years' worth of experience specializing in primary-level education highlighted the importance of algebraic thinking, and the needs of the most vulnerable (made more urgent during the recent pandemic). Ms. Mailhot noted that she values the work of libraries as literacy changes people's lives and libraries are important for communities. She expressed her belief that the training suggested for trustees in this report promotes certain ideologies; specifically, she felt that OPL should not promote activities related to various sexual orientations, particularly when vulnerable groups such as children may be influenced. She felt that the Board should reconsider these activities as the views espoused by the speakers and topics mentioned, including several speakers at the upcoming 2023 American Library Association conference, are not shared by everyone. She also highlighted OPL programming and displays with 2SLGBTQ+ content. Ms. Mailhot concluded by observing that children need to be protected.

Chair Luloff asked the delegate whether she believes institutions or parents are responsible for children, and the delegate agreed that the primary responsibility is upon the parent to decide what programming, for example, their children attend at the library. The Chair referenced the Board's Intellectual Freedom Position Statement, including its commitment to providing access to opposing or diverse viewpoints on any subject.

There being no further discussion, the report was CARRIED as presented.

MOTION OPL 20230223/5

That the Ottawa Public Library Board:

- 1. Approve the 2023 Board Continuing Education Plan (Document 1); and,
- 2. Approve the attendance of trustees at conferences in 2023 as proposed.

Results: Carried

10.4 <u>Intellectual Freedom Annual Report: 2022 Challenges</u>

File Number: OPLB-2023-0223-10.4

The Board heard from the following delegation, marked with an asterisk (*) to denote that a written submission or presentation is held on file with the Chief Librarian and CEO.

Danielle Mailhot* said she had serious concerns about public libraries, specifically OPL providing platforms to and supporting LGBTQ+ activities and content. Her concern was that this provides access to minors who may be exploited to join these groups.

Chair Luloff reminded the delegate that her comments should be restricted to the content of the report before the Board.

In response to the delegate's question on where to access what is in the OPL's collection, the Chair indicated that items in the collection are listed on OPL's website and explained briefly the process to challenge material currently in the collection. He also noted the strategic focus of the OPL Board, highlighting that the Board sets policies and frameworks, and staff manage the operational matters of the Library.

Noting that the delegate's comments were not germane to the report, the Chair ruled her out of order.

There being no further discussion, the report was RECEIVED as presented.

MOTION OPL 20230223/6

That the Ottawa Public Library Board receive this report for information.

Results: Received

10.5 2022 Fund Development Update

File Number: OPLB-2023-0223-10.5

MOTION OPL 20230223/7

That the Ottawa Public Library Board receive this report for information.

Results: Received

11. In Camera Items

MOTION OPL 20230223/8

That, in accordance with the Public Libraries Act, the Ottawa Public Library Board resolve in camera pursuant to 16.1 (4)(D), Labour Relations or Employee Negotiations, to receive a labour relations update - Reporting out date: Not Reporting Out

Results: Carried

Upon resuming in open session at 7:15 pm, the Board moved the following:

MOTION OPL 20230223/9

That the Ottawa Public Library Board received the verbal update with respect to Labour Relations.

Results: Received

12. Adjournment

Be It Resolved that the Ottawa Public Library Board meeting be adjourned at 7:20 p.m.

13. Next Meeting

Tuesday, April 11, 2023

Original signed by Matthew Luloff,	Sonia Bebbington, Recording
Chair	Secretary